## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

# FILED

AUG 17 199

CLERK, SOPREME COURT

hief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL L. ROBINSON,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NUMBER 91, 317

B٧

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## **

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is Appellant's second direct appeal following this Court's remand for a new penalty phase. Robinson v. State, 684 So.2d 175 (Fla. 1996). On April 8, 1998, this Court granted appellant's motion to utilize the record of the previous direct appeal. Counsel will refer to the record on appeal in this particular case (Florida Supreme Court #91, 317) using the symbol (RA) citing the appropriate page and volume number. Robinson's prior record on appeal (Florida Supreme Court #85, 605) will be referred to using the symbol (RB) with the appropriate page and volume number. In referring to volume, counsel will use "SR" when designating a volume of the supplemental records.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When this case was initially before the trial court in 1995, Michael Robinson pled guilty to the first-degree murder of Jane Silvia. Prior to the plea colloquy, appellant's counsel explained that appellant did not wish to proceed to trial, did not wish to present any defense, did not want his attorneys to file any motions on his behalf, and did not want to present any mitigation at the penalty phase. Appellant expressed that he desired to die and was "seeking the death penalty in this case." <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 684 So.2d 175 (Fla. 1996); (RB 1-39, Vol. 1). Prior to the plea, defense counsel pointed out that certain defenses could be raised and that this case is "not necessarily a death penalty case." (RB 6, Vol. 1) The trial court conducted a plea colloquy. (RB 18, Vol. 1) The state set forth a factual basis on the record. (RB 18-22, Vol. 1)

When the trial court sentenced Michael Robinson to death in 1995, she found three aggravating circumstances: (1) the capital felony was committed for the purposes of avoiding or preventing an unlawful arrest<sup>1</sup>; (2) the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain<sup>2</sup>; and (3) the capital felony was committed in a cold, calculating, and premeditated murder without any pretense of moral or legal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>§921.141 (5)(e), Fla. Stat.(1995)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>§921.141 (5)(f), Fla. Stat. (1995)

justification.<sup>3</sup> The trial court concluded that the aggravating circumstances could not be outweighed by any potential mitigating circumstances and sentenced appellant to death. (RB 102-109, Vol. 3; 257-62, Vol. 4)

Following a direct appeal, this Court vacated Robinson's death sentence based on the trial court's failure to consider valid mitigating evidence contained in the record. The trial court was required to do so despite appellant's request to ignore the mitigation and in spite of his assertion that he wanted to die. Robinson v. State, 684 So.2d 175 (Fla. 1996).

On remand, Michael Robinson ultimately decided that he did not want to die in Florida's electric chair.<sup>4</sup> The trial court granted Appellant's motion to appoint a mitigation expert and set a cap of \$5,000.00 "without further order of this Court." (RA 288-89, 292 Vol.4) The trial court also granted appellant's motion to retain an expert for a mental status examination, also with a \$5,000.00 cap. (RA 290-91, 293, Vol. 4) Ultimately, Dr. Berland, the mental health expert used at the first penalty phase had scheduling problems. The trial court subsequently appointed Dr. Upson. (RA 294-96, Vol. 4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>§921.141(5)(i), Fla. Stat. (1995)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Actually, Robinson decided not to thwart the process on remand and allowed Florida's capital sentencing scheme to work as it was designed, <u>i.e.</u>, the development of mitigation to be weighed against the aggravating circumstances. (RA 232-33, Vol. 2)

On May 23, 1997, appellant filed a motion for a positron emission tomography (PET) scan. (RA 299, Vol.4) When the cost of a PET scan seemed too onerous, defense counsel subsequently requested a single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) scan, a test he termed a "poor man's" PET scan. (RA 102-4, 110-12, SR-Vol. 6) Appellant also sought to exceed the previously set cap for payment to experts for the development of statutory and non-statutory mitigation. (RA 302-4, Vol. 4; 79-114, SR-Vol.6) Following an additional hearing on both of these two issues, the trial court denied the motion to exceed the cap and refused to grant additional funds for mitigation investigation. (RA 44-74, SR Vol. 4; 308 Vol.4) On July 1, 1997, following a hearing, the trial court reversed its prior decision and denied appellant's motion for single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) scan. (RA 1-14, Vol. 1; 311, Vol. 4)

On July 24, 1997, the trial court conducted a penalty phase without benefit of a jury pursuant to this Court's mandate. (RA 15-256, Vol. 2) At the commencement of the penalty phase, the trial court summarily denied appellant's motion to withdraw his previously entered plea of guilty. (RA 17-18, Vol. 2)

At the penalty phase, the state called Detective Griffin who played the audio tape of appellant's confession to the crime. (RA 30-33, Vol. 2) Appellant called two mental health professionals and his own mother to testify on his behalf. (RA

34-219, Vol.2) The state ended the evidence with a statement from the victim's brother. (RA 220-23, Vol.2)

On August 15, 1997, the trial court adjudicated appellant guilty of murder in the first degree and sentenced Michael Robinson to die in Florida's electric chair. (RA 257-64, Vol. 3; 219-24, Vol. 4) The trial court entered a sentencing order finding the same three aggravating factors found the first time. The trial court also found extensive mitigation on remand, but concluded that the three aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating circumstances. (RA 334-62, Vol. 4)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on August 22, 1997. (RA 366, Vol.4) This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, Section 3 (b)(1), Fla. Const. This brief follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 25, 1994, Jane Silvia (Robinson's girlfriend) did not report for work. An investigation revealed Michael Robinson to be a suspect. Under police questioning, Robinson initially told detectives that five drug dealers had entered the apartment he shared with Silvia and murdered her. On August 16, Robinson contacted Detective Griffin and admitted his guilt. Robinson explained that several days before the murder, he stole Silvia's VCR, television, and microwave and traded them for drugs. (RB 18-19, Vol. 1) Silvia had reported the theft to police but did not press charges at the time. (RB 13, Vol. 1) Silvia hoped that Robinson would return her property and everything would work out. Police said that she had seven days to call back and initiate charges. (RB 13, Vol. 1; RB 238-40, Vol. 4; State Exhibit # 1) The couple attempted to retrieve the property but it had already been sold. (RB 19, Vol. 1)

After their futile attempt to retrieve Silvia's property, the couple returned to the apartment, and Jane Silvia went to sleep on the couch. Robinson went out to his truck and got a drywall hammer. Robinson returned to the apartment and watched Silvia sleep, thinking about what he was going to do. Robinson then hit Silvia in the head with the hammer as she slept. The hammer went through Silvia's skull. (RB 19-20, Vol. 1) Robinson hit her a second time. He then hit her a third time using the claw end of the hammer. (RB 20, Vol. 1) In an effort to stop her heart, Robinson stabbed Silvia through the neck with a knife. Robinson then left the apartment and went to Cocoa Beach. He returned later, retrieved the body, and buried it near Apopka Boulevard in Orange County. The autopsy revealed that Silvia died as a result of skull fractures and brain injury due to blunt force trauma to the head. At the deposition, the medical examiner concluded that the first blow would have rendered Silvia unconscious and she undoubtedly suffered no pain. (RB 20-22, Vol. 1)

Robinson confessed to Detective Griffin that he loved Jane very much and that he deserved the death penalty for killing her. In an addendum to the interview, Robinson explained that his own mother had sent them some money to retrieve Silvia's electronic equipment. (RB 63-65, Vol. 2) Silvia was keeping the money in her shoes for safekeeping. Robinson gratuitously told Detective Griffin:

> ...So that was one of the reasons that I killed her, was to retrieve that money from her. I didn't want to go through any physical battle with her and have her call the police.

(RB 65, Vol. 2) Robinson added that the "other reason" was to prevent Silvia from calling the police to press charges on the theft of her electronic equipment.(RB 65-66, Vol. 2)

7

Mitigating Evidence

Dr. Upson, a clinical and neuropsychologist tested Robinson. He found Robinson's left brain to be a "little weaker than we expect...relative to the right brain." (RA 45, Vol. 2) Dr. Upson began looking into Robinson's history to see if he could find data to indicate any brain impairment. Dr. Upson determined Robinson's brain had some kind of damage; it was not normal. The damage could have been recent as a result of his extensive use of drugs. (RA 63, Vol. 2)

Robinson's uncle gave him vodka at the age of eight beginning his life long history of substance abuse. As a teenager, Robinson smoked marijuana and experimented with LSD. (RA 68, Vol. 2) An examination of Robinson's history revealed numerous incidents where brain damage could have occurred. Due to a difficult delivery, Robinson's birth was assisted by forceps. Additionally, at the age of three, Robinson suffered internal bleeding resulting in a loss of consciousness and hospitalization. When Michael was six years old, he almost drowned in a swimming pool, again suffering oxygen deprivation and unconsciousness. (RA 63-66, Vol. 2) At the age of six, Robinson was diagnosed as suffering from attention deficit disorder and was placed on high doses of Ritalin. (RA 66, Vol. 2) In his twenties, Robinson was the victim of an industrial accident caused by toxic paint fumes. He was convulsing and unconscious and was hospitalized as a result. (RA 70-71, Vol. 2) As an adult, a car hit Robinson as he rode a bicycle resulting in yet another head injury. (RA 79, Vol. 2)

Michael's father disowned him at the age of fourteen. He became a ward of the state. (RA 69, Vol. 2) Robinson began a fairly consistent pattern of the consumption of large amounts of cocaine on a regular basis. (RA 70, Vol. 2)

Dr. Upson diagnosed polysubstance abuse, cocaine dependence and a personality disorder not otherwise specified. (RA 83, Vol. 2) Dr. Upson's professional opinion was that Robinson was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional stress at the time of the murder. (RA 75, Vol.2) Upson also concluded that Robinson's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired.<sup>5</sup> Dr. Upson also opined that Robinson acted under extreme duress when he committed the murder. (RA 77-78, Vol. 2) Upson explained that Robinson had been raped four times in prison during prior incarcerations. Under the circumstances, the pressure to avoid a return to prison and additional rapes constituted extreme duress.

Dr. Jonathan Lipman, a neuropharmacologist, also testified at the penalty phase. Neuropharmacologist have special expertise in understanding the effects of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Dr. Upson had a problem with the word "substantially" but testified that Robinson could not stop himself...he had no control." (RA 77, Vol. 2)

drugs on the brain and on behavior. (RA 112-15, Vol. 2) Dr. Lipman testified as to Robinson's extensive drug use throughout his life. Robinson still suffers from LSD flashbacks. (RA 120, Vol. 2) Robinson also used methamphetamine which, with chronic use, causes serious adverse effects which resemble a psychotic experience. (RA 122-23, Vol. 2) Dr. Lipman also explained that children who are prescribed Ritalin generally have a brain lesion which causes hyperactivity. The active ingredient in Ritalin actually slows down the hyperactivity in these abnormal brains.. However, given in large doses, Ritalin can have a toxic effect on some parts of the cortex causing sprouting of intracortical nerve fibers. (RA 121, Vol. 2)

When Michael Robinson married at the age of seventeen, his wife introduced him to the joys of intravenous drug use, specifically preludin, a stimulant, and dilaudid, an opiate. Using both together intravenously is called "speed-balling." (RA 128, Vol. 2) Robinson was also ingesting crystal methamphetamine in his teen years. (RA 128, Vol. 2) When Robinson was nineteen he stayed awake for an entire month while using cocaine intravenously. (RA 129, Vol. 2) Dr. Lipman described how heavy use of cocaine and amphetamines can result in psychosis as well as crippling depression. (RA 129-36, Vol. 2) After being drug-free for several years, Robinson still exhibited abnormal behavior. Dr. Lipman described him as "quite paranoid", with compulsion in his thinking, compulsive behavior, and hyperreligiousity. (RA 140-42, Vol. 2) From this, Dr. Lipman termed it "very likely" that Robinson suffers from an organic problem in the temporal lobe of his brain, part of the limbic region. (RA 142, Vol. 2) While using drugs prior to the murder, Robinson experienced typical symptoms of chronic cocaine psychosis. (RA 143-49, Vol. 2) Cocaine reacts with brain damage resulting in a magnification of abnormal behavior. (RA 149, Vol. 2) Dr. Lipman suspected that Michael Robinson suffered from brain damage. (RA 149-50, Vol. 2) Lipman concluded that, "at the time of the offense, Robinson was clearly suffering in a state of unreality brought about by the chronic effect of cocaine, specifically chronic cocaine psychosis." (RA 153, Vol. 2)

Lipman also concluded that Robinson's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. "He felt compelled to commit this offense. ...very compulsive, that he was driven, that he felt that he had to do this, that he felt that he had no choice. ...He didn't want it to happen, but he described the most profound compulsion." (RA 155, Vol. 2) Dr. Lipman concluded that at the time of the murder, Robinson was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, that he acted under extreme duress (subjectively perceived), and that his ability to control his behavior was substantially impaired given the compulsion that he felt. (RA 158-61, Vol. 2)

Robinson's mother, Barbara Judy, confirmed the myriad incidents in Michael's life that could have resulted in brain damage. She also corroborated his lengthy history of drug addiction and substance abuse. She also explained Robinson's abnormal life and dysfunctional family including the family's history of mental illness, drug addiction, and abuse. (RA 174-219, Vol. 2)

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

Following reversal of appellant's death sentence on direct appeal, Michael Robinson was not so anxious to use Florida's court system to commit suicide. The trial court should have granted Robinson's timely motion to withdraw his plea based on his representation that the plea was not intelligent and voluntary. Certainly the trial court's summary denial of the motion without a hearing or argument violated Robinson's fundamental right to due process of law.

The trial court also committed reversible error when the court suddenly decided that "enough is enough" and refused to allow a brain scan to be conducted on Robinson. The court's main reason for refusing to allow the test was based on concerns that it might lead to further delay. No medical tests were performed at all, only psychological ones. The court refused to order the test in spite of the fact that the only two mental health professionals involved in the case testified that a brain scan would have definitely aided in their evaluation of Robinson. This issue is directly controlled by this Court's decision in Hoskins v. State, 702 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1997). The prejudice is evident where the state argued and the trial court agreed that Robinson suffered from little or no brain damage and, whatever damage existed, did not necessarily "cause" Robinson to murder.

It is abundantly clear from the record that the trial court had prejudged this

case. Michael Robinson was to be sentenced to death again no matter what evidence the defense showed in mitigation. The trial court's repeated comments on the record reveal her bias. Her bias affected the rulings whereby the court denied additional funds for mitigation investigation and refused to order a brain scan. This also resulted in a deprivation of Robinson's constitutional rights to equal protection under the law.

The state failed to prove that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain. The evidence supporting this aggravating circumstance was gleaned from Robinson self-serving statement when he was attempting suicide by Florida's death sentencing scheme. The state also failed to prove the requisite "heightened premeditation" and that the murder was committed to eliminate a witness. Robinson's mental state caused by his drug addiction and crack cocaine use at the time of the murder made it impossible for him to think clearly enough to support these aggravators. A proper weighing of any valid aggravators against the substantial amount of mitigation proved by the defense on remand should result in a sentence of life without possibility of parole. This particular murder is not one of Florida's most aggravated and least mitigated.

#### **ARGUMENTS**

Michael Robinson discusses below the reasons which, he respectfully

submits, compel the reversal of his conviction and death sentence. Each issue is

predicated on the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the

United States Constitution, Article I, Sections 9, 16, 17, and 22 of the Florida

Constitution, and such other authority as is set forth.

## POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA WHERE APPELLANT ORIGINALLY PLED GUILTY AND ASKED TO DIE, BUT ON REMAND DECIDED HE WANTED TO LIVE AFTER ALL, RESULTING IN A VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND TO A FAIR TRIAL, GUARANTEED BY THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 2, 9, 16, 17, AND 21 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

As this Court remembers from appellant's prior direct appeal, Michael Robinson pled guilty to the first-degree murder of his girlfriend, Jane Silvia. Prior to the initial plea colloquy, trial counsel explained that Robinson did not wish to proceed to trial, did not wish to present any defense, did not want his attorneys to file any motions on his behalf, and did not want to present any mitigation at the penalty phase. Robinson expressed that he desired to die and was "seeking the death penalty in this case." Robinson v. State, 684 So.2d 175 (Fla. 1996). Robinson waived his right to a penalty phase jury and proceeded to sentencing before the trial court. Relying on Koon v. Duger, 619 So.2d 246 (Fla. 1993), the defense proffered mitigating evidence which it had received from a psychologist, Dr. Berland, and appellant's mother. The trial court ultimately granted Michael Robinson's request and sentenced him to death. In doing so, the trial court disregarded valid mitigating evidence at appellant's urging. Id.

After this Court reversed Robinson's death sentence, Michael Robinson decided that he was not so anxious to die. On remand, Robinson cooperated with his lawyers who developed further mitigation and argued for a life sentence. In fact, appellant sought to withdraw his prior guilty plea as well. At the beginning of the new penalty phase on July 24, 1997, defense counsel announced:

> MR. BENDER (defense counsel): The second thing, your Honor, at this time I would make an ore tenus motion on behalf of Mr. Robinson to withdraw the previous plea that was rendered and would state that Mr. Robinson was not able to form an intelligent waiver of his rights and would ask that the case be--that Mr. Robinson be allowed to withdraw his previously entered plea on this charge and the case be reset for trial.

> MR. CULHAN (prosecutor): The state's response is, first of all, the motion has to be in writing. I don't think the grounds stated by the defense are enough to have the defendant withdraw the plea. I would ask the court to deny the motion to withdraw the plea.

THE COURT: Additionally, I can remember the plea, where he told us why he did what he did and he appeared very confident to me. And I am denying the motion to withdraw the plea.

Are you ready to proceed to the penalty phase?

(RA 17-18, Vol. 1)

The Motion to Withdraw the Plea was Timely.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.170(f) provides, in part:

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