IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



Appellant,

FILED SID J. WHITE NOV 17 1998 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Debuty Class Chief Deputy Cierk

Ŋ

v.

CASE NO. 91,317

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #438847 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The trial court did not err in denying the appellant's POINT I: motion to withdraw his guilty plea. The motion was untimely, and therefore, it should be denied on that procedural bar. Further, the trial court considered the grounds advanced for the motion, and the appellant made no indication that he did not have a sufficient opportunity to present the basis for his motion. Thus, the claim that he was inappropriately precluded from from presenting his "argument" for withdrawal of the plea is not preserved for In any event, the record shows that the appellate review. appellant made a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to a trial, and there is no basis for withdrawal of the guilty plea. Finally, the appellant has repeatedly admitted, and continues to admit, that he murdered Jane from a premeditated design. Thus, no claim of manifest injustice is presented by this case.

POINT II: The trial court did not err in denying the appellant's request for a SPECT scan. The request was untimely made, and therefore, it is procedurally barred. In any event, no showing of prejudice has been made. Neither has the appellant established that the test was necessary to his expert's opinions, and therefore, no reversible error occurred.

POINT III: The trial judge did not prejudge the appellant's penalty proceeding. Neither the comments of the judge, nor the denial of a small fraction of the additional funds the defense wanted show any bias, prejudice, or prejudgment. The trial judge

carefully considered all of the evidence presented to her, and the appellant's disagreement with her decision does not provide a basis for a claim of judicial prejudgment.

POINT IV: The appellant's sentence of death is proportionate. There is no "alcohol haze" exception to the death penalty, and even if there were, it does not apply to this case. Likewise, there is no domestic dispute exception to the death penalty. The trial judge's determination that the three aggravators outweighed the nonstatutory mitigation should be upheld by this Honorable Court. The trial court did not err in finding that the POINT V: aggravating factor - committed for pecuniary gain - was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. That this aggravator was proved was decided in the appellant's previous appeal. This Court's decision on that issue is the law of the case, and therefore, the issue should not be further considered here. In any event, the appellant is entitled to no relief. The trial court applied the correct rule of law, and competent substantial evidence supports the judge's finding that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain.

POINT VI: The trial court did not err in finding that the aggravating factor - committed to avoid arrest - was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. That this aggravator was proved was decided in the appellant's previous appeal. This Court's decision on that issue is the law of the case, and therefore, the issue should not be further considered here. In any event, the appellant is entitled to no relief. The trial court applied the correct rule of

law, and competent substantial evidence supports the judge's finding that the murder was committed to avoid arrest.

POINT VII: The trial court did not err in finding that the aggravating factor - committed in a cold, calculated, premeditated manner - was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. That this aggravator was proved was decided in the appellant's previous appeal. This Court's decision on that issue is the law of the case, and therefore, the issue should not be further considered here. In any event, the appellant is entitled to no relief. The trial court applied the correct rule of law, and competent substantial evidence supports the judge's finding that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, premeditated manner.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA.

At the commencement of the resentencing proceeding, Robinson made an ore tenus motion to withdraw his guilty plea. (RR 17). The sole ground for the request was that at the time the plea was entered "Robinson was not able to form an intelligent waiver of his rights " Id. The State responded, opposing the motion on two stated grounds, to-wit: "[T]he motion has to be in writing," and the basis for the request was insufficient. Id. at 18. The trial judge, who was the judge who took the plea, then addressed the issue, stating that she could "remember the plea." Id. Relying on her specific remembrance of what Robinson said, and the way he appeared when entering the plea, the court denied the motion, id., implicitly finding that the plea was voluntarily entered, and as such, the waiver of his rights was intelligent.

Clearly, Robinson stated his reason for his request to withdraw the plea and the trial court ruled directly thereon. Robinson did not complain in the lower court that he had not been allowed to elaborate on the reason he "was unable to form an intelligent waiver at the time of the plea." *Id.* at 20. There is simply no indication that Robinson did not say everything he wanted to say on the issue at the time.

Thus, the claim that the trial judge inappropriately precluded Robinson from presenting his "argument" for withdrawal of the plea is not preserved for appellate review. Further, even were preservation not required, there is no record indication that counsel was prevented from making any argument he wanted. Finally, there was no error in the trial court's ruling because the ground stated was insufficient on which to obtain relief.

The plea colloquy clearly shows that Robinson made an intelligent waiver of his right to a trial. Prior to the entry of the guilty plea, Defense counsel asked the Court to order a psychiatric evaluation to verify Robinson's competence to enter the plea. Counsel stated "[w]e think that he's competent. Dr. Berland has said that he's competent. We can go forward with the plea today." (OR 2). Based on that representation, the trial judge agreed to proceed with the plea hearing "contingent upon Dr. Kirkland's report" confirming Robinson's competency. Id. at 3, 4.

Thereafter, Defense Counsel explained that Robinson "does not wish to present any defense" and "does not want to present any mitigation." *Id.* at 6. He added that Robinson "is seeking the

death penalty." Id.

Defense Counsel asked for

an extensive colloquy to make sure that Mr. Robinson understands all the rights that he is giving up. and to make sure that we have explained to him in detail what would be involved and the efforts that we have made to try to convince him that we feel that we have certain defenses that we could raise, that this is, in our opinion, not necessarily a death penalty case. And that there are certainly a number of issues that could be

raised at trial. Certainly even if he were to be found guilty at trial, there . . . is no certainty that any appellate court . . . would necessarily uphold any death penalty sentence. So we feel that there are a number of ways that we can assist him.

. . . We've seen him on a number of occasions . . . and . . . Dr. Berland has also seen him. And we do feel that he is competent to proceed here today and understands what's going on.

Id. at 6-7.

Thereafter, an extensive plea colloquy ensued. Mr. Robinson was asked whether he understood that if he entered the guilty plea he "would only have the option of death or life in prison." *Id.* at 7. He responded: "Yes, Ma'am, I do." *Id.* Thereafter, Robinson was sworn and proceeded to answer many questions and provide a detailed factual basis for his plea. *Id.* at 8-9. Robinson provided his age, his educational background, a history of where, and with whom, he had lived throughout his life, his work and military service history, and his two-year marriage. *Id.* at 8-10.

He told the judge that the last time he did crack cocaine was "[s]hortly before this incident happened." *Id.* at 9-10. He defined "shortly" as "days" before. *Id.* At 10. He added that he was not feeling any effects of that drug at the time he murdered Jane. *Id.*

He told Judge Russell that he wanted to plead guilty to Jane's murder, and he was doing so freely and voluntarily. *Id.* at 11. He acknowledged having been seen, and evaluated, by Dr. Berland who had found him competent. *Id.*

Robinson explained that he killed Jane because he "was on

parole . . . on a nine year sentence." Id. at 12. He had been released "on CRD" after nine months, but "was on parole for seven years " Id. at 12, 13. He had stolen a "TV, microwave, [and] VCR" from Jane, who had reported it to the police. Id. at 13. Jane "was given seven days to call back and have the charges To him, "[t]he choice . . . meant ten years in initiated." Id. prison on top of seven years I would get for violation of parole . . . if she made that call " Id. When Judge Russell interjected: "Now you're looking at more than that," Robinson responded: "If I got away, I was looking at nothing." Id. Acknowledging that he thought it was possible for him to get away with Jane's murder, he added that in any event, he "would have rather faced death than go back to prison for seventeen years." Robinson said that he was well aware that in *Id.* at 13-14. pleading he was facing the death penalty or "natural life behind prison bars." Id. at 14.

Judge Russell then asked: "How did you kill her?" *Id.* at 15. Robinson proceeded to explain that he tried to get Jane's things back, but was unsuccessful. *Id.* He had kept that information from her though, and "[s]o she wasn't aware of the danger that she was in." *Id.* He added: ". . . I understood that once I had explained to her that she would no longer be able to get her things back, she

⁶He explained that he had been in prison four times in his 29 years, and he did "[n]ot very much" like it. (OR 14).

was going to make the call. . . . I didn't feel like I could take that risk." Id.

Regarding the help of his attorneys, Robinson told the court that

[t]hey have tried to explain to me everything that is going on, what the possibilities were, you know, what they could do. And they, you know, went to the court. They actually got me an extra lawyer that I, you know, beyond what I need. . . . and they are very good, and I'm very satisfied with what they have tried to do for me. . . . And they showed me . . . case law explaining that they have to do what I asked them to do concerning my defense as long as I am competent . . . and showed me case law concerning the court proceedings.

Id. at 16-17. Robinson added that although his attorneys had tried to talk him into "fighting this," he did not think they could win at trial, especially not in view of the full confession he had given the police. Id. at 17. He explained that as a Christian, he preferred to die and go to heaven rather than to spend his life in prison. Id. at 18.

Robinson assured the court that no one had promised him anything in exchange for his plea. *Id.* The State then presented the factual basis for the murder charges which was taken directly from the "full confession" Robinson had given the police. *Id.* at 18-21. A copy of the transcript of the confession was placed into evidence in support of the factual basis for the plea. *Id.*

Thereafter, Robinson supplied additional details of the crime. He opined that Jane did not wake up when he struck her, and the raising of her body was a "muscular reflex." Id. at 22. He assured the court: "I happen to be a very intelligent person," who "killed someone" and feel that "I deserve the death penalty." *Id.* at 22-23.

At that point, Defense Counsel engaged Robinson in an extensive, detailed colloguy on the issue of counsels' advice and Robinson's instructions regarding the attorneys' handling of his During same, Robinson affirmed that his Id. at 23-27. case. attorneys had "taken extensive depositions in this case" and had shown him "all of the evidence" Id. at 26. Robinson reiterated that his attorneys had done "a hundred percent of everything that you could have done, or that I would allow you to do." Id. at 27. He added that although his counsel had explained to him what efforts they would use to try to get him off altogether, he did not feel that there was any chance that they would succeed. Id. at 28.

Robinson acknowledged that he understood that entering a guilty plea would not affect the ultimate sentence; it would not increase, or decrease, the likelihood of being sentenced to death. *Id.* at 28, 29, 30. Thereafter, he reiterated that he was nonetheless "[s]ure, absolutely" that he wanted to enter the guilty plea.

Thereupon, the trial judge found:

After talking to you and the attorneys talking to you, I've asked more questions than normal because I want to get a feel for where you are mentally. It appears to me that you are alert and intelligent, and you seem to understand the consequences.

Id. at 30-31. In an abundance of caution, and because one of the previously appointed mental health experts had not done an adequate evaluation of Robinson, Judge Russell appointed Dr. Kirkland to examine Robinson and report on his competency. Id. at 31. In so doing, the judge made it clear that the appointment was being done in an abundance of caution, noting "I have no reason to believe that it won't come back the same as Dr. Berland." Id. at 31. Thereafter, Judge Russell accepted the plea. Id. at 35.

Dr. Berland's report, dated the day after the plea proceeding, stated that Robinson falls within "the superior range of intelligence," having an IQ of 120. Appendix A, at 2. He concluded that

[d]espite . . . [a] history of symptoms of mental illness . . ., there was no evidence . . . recommending that this defendant be found incompetent to proceed to trial. . . . It was evident from both the actions that he described and from his reports of his thoughts at the time that he was clearly aware of the nature, the immediate consequences, and the wrongfulness of his actions at the time of this offense. There was therefore no evidence to support an insanity plea in this case. Additionally, he denied recent substance abuse or the symptoms of mental disturbance which might permit consideration of a 'Gurganus defense,' in which questions regarding his ability to form specific intent might be raised at trial.

Appendix A, at 2, 3. Dr. Berland added that "[t]he only clinicallegal issue . . found was mitigation at sentencing." *Id.* The doctor made clear that in reaching his opinion of competency, he was aware of Robinson's reasons for refusing to permit the presentation of mitigation at sentencing. *Id.*

Approximately two weeks later, Dr. Kirkland examined Robinson,

and on February 7, 1998, he issued his evaluation and opinion. Appendix B. Dr. Kirkland concluded that Robinson:

- was legally sane at the time of the commission of the act of murder of his female friend, Jane Silvia.
- was mentally competent to stand trial, and to enter a plea of guilty.
- 3. is competent to be sentenced.

(emphasis added) Appendix B, at 1.

Robinson killed Jane Silvia on July 24, 1994. (OR 256). The rule governing the taking of guilty pleas provided:

Responsibility of Court on Pleas. No plea of guilty or nolo contendere shall be accepted by a court without the court first determining, in open court, with means of recording the proceedings stenographically or mechanically, that the circumstances surrounding the plea reflect a full understanding of the significance of the plea and its voluntariness and that there is a factual basis for the plea of guilty. A complete record of the proceedings at which a defendant pleads shall be kept by the court.

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.170(j). The standard of review of a trial court's denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea is "abuse of discretion." *Hunt v. State*, 613 So.2d 893, 896 (Fla. 1992).

In Elledge v. State, 706 So.2d 1340, 1344 (Fla. 1997), this Court held that a plea colloquy, which could only be described as extremely sparse compared to that in the instant case, was "conclude that Elledge had 'full sufficient on which to understanding of the significance of his plea and its voluntariness 'as required by rule 3.170(j)." In the instant case, the trial judge had the benefit of a much more lengthy and detailed plea colloguy involving extensive personal participation by Robinson. Both of his trial counsel and the two prosecutors also

participated. It is clear that Robinson knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered his guilty plea, having full understanding of the significance thereof.

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